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An understanding or even an alliance [between the United States and Canada] may 
indeed be necessary for the preservation of that North American civilization which is 
our joint possession. 

John W. Dafoe 
Editor, the Winnipeg Free Press 

in a lecture at Columbia University, 1934.1 

Very few people in the 1930s could have grasped the significance of John Dafoe's words. 
Indeed, he would have been surprised to learn of the coming intimacy in Canadian-American 
relations, not only during World War II but also in the years to follow. He would have been 
amazed at the wartime understanding which continued into the post-war years, and at the 
principal forum of that entente, the Permanent Joint Board on Defence (PJBD). 

On the matter of a Canadian-American "understanding," if on nothing else, Dafoe and 
President Franklin Delano Roosevelt had begun to think much alike by 1934. Roosevelt, then 
in the midst of protracted negotiations with London and Tokyo over a new naval limitations 
agreement, privately warned British leaders that should they prefer collaboration with Japan 
to the United States he would "be compelled in the interests of American security, to 
approach public sentiment in Canada" and the other Dominions to make them "understand 
clearly that their future security is linked with us in the United States." In any case, Roosevelt 
needed to embark on an extensive naval building programme2 and to forge new defensive 
links with Canada. The enlargement of the navy and the approach of war would necessitate 
closer Canadian-American cooperation. 

Roosevelt had always demonstrated a great personal interest in the navy and its prob­
lems.3 That concern led him during a 1936 Caribbean cruise to consider acquiring air and 
naval bases on British territory in Bermuda, the Caribbean and Newfoundland to protect the 
American continent and to prevent those areas from falling into an enemy's hands.4 Defence 
of the western hemisphere's northern areas was a growing concern to Roosevelt, and in an 
attempt to arouse Americans to the dangers of war, he quite noticeably began to make refer­
ences to Canadian security. On August 14, 1936, during an address at Chautauqua, New York, 
he said that "our closest neighbors are good neighbors. If there are remoter nations that wish
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us not good but ill, they know that we are strong. They know that we can and will defend our­
selves and defend our neighborhood."5 This unilateral declaration prepared the ground for 
discussions between the President and Prime Minister William Lyon Mackenzie King; yet at 
the time Roosevelt's statement received little attention, even in Canada.6 

King and Roosevelt first discussed Atlantic and Pacific coast defence in March 1937 when 
King was an overnight guest at the White House.7 It was Roosevelt's visit to British Columbia 
the following September, however, which sparked his interest in a Canadian-American conti­
nental defence effort. He crossed from Seattle on board a U.S. destroyer to meet the Lieu­
tenant-Governor and B.C. Premier T.D. Pattulo. The meagre condition of Canada's Pacific 
naval forces and coastal defence disturbed Roosevelt. It was United States' defence which 
dominated his thinking and he considered the British Columbia coast a link between the 
United States and Alaska.8 Shortly after returning from Victoria, Roosevelt suggested that 
some means be sought to exchange military intelligence between the two nations' General 
Staffs. This initiative led to the first contacts between Department of National Defence and 
War Department officials in Washington during January 1938.9 Staff officers reviewed general 
security problems, but defence in the Strait of Juan de Fuca received special attention and 
they exchanged information on the west coast area.10 

On August 18, 1938, just before the Czechoslovak crisis, Roosevelt visited Kingston, 
Ontario to accept an honourary degree at Queen's University and to attend the dedication of 
the Thousand Islands Bridge at Ivy Lea. While there, Roosevelt met with King for discussions 
which focused primarily on Atlantic coast defence. The President, in the course of delivering 
the convocation address, defined America's strategic obligations to Canada. He declared, "I 
give you assurance that the people of the United States will not stand idly by if domination of 
Canadian soil is threatened by any other empire."11 Roosevelt thus reaffirmed the assurances 
he had offered two years earlier.12 Given the traditional American opposition to any foreign 
involvement (except in Latin America),13 this address marked a significant departure in U.S. 
policy. After all, Roosevelt led an electorate accustomed to very limited interventionist sor­
ties.14 This time, instead of being largely ignored, FDR's new pronouncement received 
acclaim in both the United States and Canada as a revived and updated version of the Mon­
roe Doctrine,15 although Roosevelt insisted at a press conference the next day that he 
intended no enlargement of Monroe's principles. Canada, he stated with some exaggeration, 
had never been excluded from the American States to which President James Monroe had 
referred in his 1823 message.16 "What I said at Queen's University," Roosevelt explained 
confidentially in a letter to Governor-General Lord Tweedsmuir "was so obvious that I cannot 
understand why some American President did not say it half a century ago."17 Regardless of 
Roosevelt's historical accuracy in interpreting Monroe's address, he had begun to define 
America's strategic expectations vis-a-vis Canada and to explain publicly what he had sug­
gested privately in 1934: that Canadians must understand that their security was increasingly 
linked with that of the United States. 

King acknowledged Roosevelt's declaration two days later during an address at 
Woodbridge, Ontario, in which he stated, 

we, too, have our obligations as a good and friendly neighbour, and one of them is 
to see that, at our own instance, our country is made as immune from attack or 
possible invasion as we can reasonably be expected to make it, and that should the 
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occasion ever arise, enemy forces should not be able to pursue their way, either by 
land, sea or air to the United States across Canadian territory.18 

King thought his speech had sounded the proper note. It would, he confided to his diary, 
"please the Americans above all else, and it is right." It pleased King, too, that he had been 
able to spell out Canada's strategic obligations to the Americans. Canada, he believed, had at 
last got its "defence programme in good shape. Good neighbour on one side; partners within 
the Empire on the other. Obligations to both in return for their assistance. Readiness to meet 
all joint emergencies."19 

King appeared curiously complacent at a moment when Canada's defence posture 
remained incredibly weak and "military liaison with the United States was in the earliest and 
most elementary state." Canada faced an imminent danger of war after Munich but "possessed 
little in the way of means" to defend her interests or to meet an emergency.20 Nevertheless, 
these two public declarations marked the first instance of Canadian recognition and American 
affirmation of obligations and expectations in continental defence. Indeed, the Roosevelt-King 
statements of 1938 still stand as the clearest and most sweeping pronouncement of Canadian-
American bilateral defence commitments. 

In the wake of Roosevelt's visit to Canada, and at his suggestion, the State Department 
proposed further secret staff talks; thus, the new Chief of the Canadian General Staff, Major-
General T. V. Anderson, met in Washington with the U.S. Army Chief, General Malin Craig, 
during November 1938.21 King also traveled to Washington during mid-November to sign the 
new Canadian-American trade agreements,22 at which time he and Roosevelt discussed com­
mon defence problems "at length and in a more concrete and definitive way."23 This meeting 
followed by only a few days Roosevelt's statement that the United States intended to defend 
the American continent from air attack and that he believed Canada would join in furthering 
a defence scheme to this end.24 King observed following FDR's announcement that this 
speech forced him to be "particularly guarded n6t to say a word that might be construed as 
failure to appreciate a generous attitude by the President. On the other hand, his remarks will 
be interpreted, in some quarters, as an effort to isolate North America. Jingos [sic] will wish 
to assert solidarity of British Empire."25 They did not have long to wait to see what Canadian 
participation in hemispheric defence might entail. The American press had already begun 
painting that picture in bold colours. 

Just prior to King's Washington trip the press began to publicize the idea that the United 
States should obtain island air and naval facilities in the Atlantic and Caribbean, and to call 
attention to Canada's vital role in American security. There is reason to suspect that 
Roosevelt and Naval Operations Chief William Leahy encouraged that publicity to focus 
public attention on the United States' foreign base requirements. In its October 31 issue, for 
example, Life contained an article by retired Army Major George Fielding Eliot entitled 
"America Gets Ready to Fight Germany, Italy and Japan." The editor also called attention to 
Eliot's forthcoming book, The Ramparts We Watch: A Study of the Problems of American 
National Defense, in which the author contended that America's security depended not only 
upon military strength at home but also on an adequate defence of Canada, Bermuda and 
foreign possessions in the Caribbean. Two weeks later, New York Herald Tribune journalist 
Walter Lippmann elaborated on Life's article in his syndicated column.26 A factor which 
makes these articles and the book so intriguing is that Lippmann had visited Leahy's office 
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some months earlier to obtain information for an article on naval matters,27 and Eliot 
enjoyed similar access to data for his lectures and publications on national defence.28 What 
role, if any, Roosevelt and Leahy played in leaking these ideas to Lippmann and Eliot is a 
matter of conjecture. It is known, however, that Roosevelt began to assemble a temporary 
Atlantic cruiser squadron late in August 1938. This squadron was to be composed of ships 
then in Atlantic waters or near completion in naval yards and would visit American ports and 
prepare for forthcoming winter maneuvers,29 an activity suited perfectly to the proposals 
Eliot and Lippman had been trying out in the press. 

Roosevelt envisaged a patrol scheme for defence of the Atlantic coast which provided the 
concept behind those winter naval exercises. In mid-February 1939 he boarded a destroyer 
and participated in a two-week naval "battle" off the shores of the Windward Islands. That 
exercise convinced the President and naval authorities that to make the patrol efficient, the 
United States required the use of foreign-owned bases.30 Returning from the Caribbean, the 
President quietly began to select base sites to support his patrol. On March 23, Leahy and 
Under Secretary of State Sumner Welles conferred with Roosevelt on requirements for island 
air fueling facilities, and the President directed Leahy to advise Welles on desirable loca­
tions.31 Leahy found little difficulty complying with that directive. U.S. naval officials had for 
several years cast covetous eyes toward British Empire and other foreign territories in the 
Atlantic and Caribbean, observing that "trends in aviation, both military and commercial, have 
increased the importance of acquiring certain neighboring foreign possessions."32 Lists of 
desirable locations had long since been considered, so on the following day Leahy sent a list 
to Welles which included Trinidad, as well as St. John's, Newfoundland; Halifax, Nova Scotia; 
Bermuda; St. Lucia and other British and Australian Pacific island possessions.33 

Roosevelt advanced his plan further by exploring with King George VI the possibility of 
acquiring British and Canadian base facilities when the King and Queen visited the United 
States in June 1939.34 After entertaining their Majesties at the White House, FDR invited 
them to spend a weekend at Hyde Park. Mackenzie King accompanied the monarch and was 
privy to most, though not all, of his discussions with Roosevelt.35 The host kept the King up 
late Saturday night, June 10, discussing the international situation. The President spoke of the 
possibility of war36 and said that he "had a perfect right to keep other European countries 
from sending warships into waters off the coasts of America, whether it was north or south." 
He thought that "even in time of war," should it come between Germany and England, the 
United States could, "without violating any neutral rights," come into Halifax for coal and 
equipment. "If we could assist his vessels there," he told the King and the Canadian Prime 
Minister, "he could assist in keeping the waters of the Atlantic free of German ships of 
war."37 Roosevelt held a second conversation alone with the King the following afternoon 
during which FDR showed him U.S. naval patrol plans in greater detail and explained that if 
war broke out, the Americans needed bases at Trinidad and Bermuda for the fleet to fuel and 
replenish stores.38 

The President did not pigeonhole the idea of acquiring bases following the Royal visit as 
has been suggested.39 On the contrary, he very quickly approached the U.K. government 
about the plan. Late in the afternoon of June 30, 1939, FDR called British Ambassador Sir 
Ronald Lindsay to the White House40 and explained that to make a wartime patrol efficient, 
the United States required foreign bases. The Americans wanted bases in Brazil, but in 
addition Roosevelt said he needed four bases in British territory: in Trinidad, St. Lucia, 
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Bermuda and Halifax.41 It was important, he emphasized, that an agreement under which 
facilities would be accorded should be finalized during peacetime, so that American wartime 
use of these bases might continue without too severe a break with neutrality. Of the three 
southern islands Trinidad and Bermuda were most important. The fourth base at Halifax 
ranked in a different category. American authorities planned to ask Ottawa about access to 
facilities there, but only if Great Britain first assented to occupation of the other three bases. 
There was some talk of including Newfoundland in the scheme, but that suggestion arose as 
an afterthought in the discussions and Lindsay left the White House unsure just how seriously 
the Americans submitted that proposal.42 A few days later he enquired of Welles whether 
the United States needed a base in Newfoundland. Welles said definitely not at present, but 
the idea might perhaps be taken up later when dealing with the base at Halifax.43 

It took less than a week for the British to agree to American use of whatever colonial 
bases it might require for its western Atlantic patrol.44 During that week Roosevelt volun­
teered some further hints of his intent. His comments paralleled his earlier statements follow­
ing the Kingston address. The limits of the patrol area could not be defined until the moment 
arrived, but it might stretch down the entire west side of the Atlantic. Roosevelt explained 
that his defence plan involved the Monroe Doctrine and that the American government 
intended to interpret it to encompass not only Canada and Newfoundland but also all other 
British possessions and those of France and Holland within the area as well.45 

By July 7, the British Foreign Office thought it might be necessary "to give the Canadian 
Government some inkling now of the proposed plan."46 Accordingly, the Dominions Office 
instructed the British High Commissioner in Ottawa to inform King "orally and most secretly" 
of the American plan and Britain's reply to it. London wanted Ottawa to concert its reply with 
them since they attached great importance to Halifax's position relative to Britain's convoy 
assembly plans and protection of wartime trade routes.47 

Stephen Holmes of the High Commissioner's Office met King at Laurier House on July 
15. King, understandably, seemed little surprised at Holmes' report that FDR had approached 
the British Ambassador regarding his patrol and requested permission to keep stores at 
Trinidad, St. Lucia and Bermuda. The President, Holmes said, "would like to use these bases 
to fuel, leave repairs, and supplies." Britain had agreed to this request but was concerned 
about Canada's attitude should a similar question be raised about Halifax. Holmes stressed 
the importance Britain attached to Halifax and warned that the matter would "shortly" be 
brought to Canada's attention "formally or officially." 

King brought Holmes up a bit short with the reply that he had already discussed the 
matter with the President and gathered that Roosevelt "wanted more than to keep his own 
supplies or stores" but also "may want some of ours if need be." Furthermore, he said, Canada 
was quite willing to allow the Americans to use the facilities at Halifax: "It all depended on 
developments. If [the] U.S. were prepared to engage in or risk war by coming into our ports 
for fuel and to help their patrol-thus disregarding neutrality and exposing themselves to 
convoy attacks if we were at war-that was their own doing and business. We should not 
object to getting all the help we could."48 It seems apparent that the ties which bound 
Canada more closely to the United States, and turned her into a "North American nation"49 

during the war, began to bind rather sooner than has heretofore been presumed. 
Early in August Roosevelt arranged with King to take a "holiday" cruise, accompanied by 

navy patrol planes, aboard the U.S.S. Tuscaloosa in waters bordering Nova Scotia, the Gulf of 
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St. Lawrence, Newfoundland, and Labrador. His real purpose was "not to take a holiday but 
to see the lie of the land for himself. He wanted to see what naval and air defence of the 
Canadian East Coast and Newfoundland involved." During the trip Roosevelt entered Halifax 
harbour for one night and met with commanding air and naval officers. His cruise was cut 
short when on August 20, news from the State Department gave him a "hunch" that he should 
turn back toward Halifax from which he could quickly return home in any emergency.50 

The emergency arrived in short order. The State Department received warning of the 
Nazi-Soviet Non-Aggression Pact by mid-afternoon, August 21. Washington had details of the 
agreement on the morning of the 24th,51 and that afternoon the U.S. Navy Department 
moved rapidly to exercise its options on British base facilities. American naval officers hastily 
inspected sites and drafted, backdated and signed leases to acquire land for bases in Bermuda 
and St. Lucia and aviation installations in Trinidad before war began.52 Roosevelt sent no 
naval officers to lease territory for an American base at Halifax; yet, significantly, the way lay 
open for American wartime utilization of facilities there whenever the need arose. The United 
States would have liked to have requested air and naval base construction sites in Newfound­
land too, but were afraid of Canadian objection.53 

Meanwhile, in Ottawa O.D. Skelton submitted a paper to King on August 24 outlining 
the forms and objectives of proposed Canadian participation in the war effort. These included 
a provision to consider extending Canadian aid to Newfoundland and the West Indies. Skelton 
thought this would assist Britain and have the "goodwill and possibly eventually the cooper­
ation of the United States." King read Skelton's memo at a Cabinet meeting that afternoon 
and obtained Council approval. He also advised Council of the conversations with the King 
and the President "on the matter of his patrolling the Atlantic Coast."54 

C. P. Stacey, in his study of Canada's war policies, Arms, Men and Governments, summar­
ized "how far things went" in the Canadian-American relationship before the outbreak of the 
war. "The cautious establishment of contact, some very friendly general discussions, some 
exchange of information," occurred, but there "was still no permanent machinery for military 
liaison, no joint planning."55 His summary is on the whole accurate, though "things" had pro­
ceeded a trifle further than he claimed. The Canadian government provided an informal 
arrangement which afforded the U.S. access to Halifax's naval yard facilities. Ottawa also 
foresaw the possibility of extending defensive assistance to Newfoundland and the West Indies 
in hopes of encouraging American cooperation in those places. Certainly the Halifax arrange­
ment by itself appears insignificant. Yet it typified the method by which the two countries 
managed defence responsibilities in the decades ahead, for the U.S.-Canadian defence rela­
tionship has after all, been characterized by a "marked absence of comprehensive joint agree­
ments."56 

When war broke out, the coastal defence question suddenly assumed vital proportions, 
and the fact that the United States remained neutral while Canada joined the conflict com­
pounded the problem. King pondered how FDR's September 1, 1939, statement that "the U.S. 
ought to be able to keep out of the European war" could be squared with the President's 
"promise of defending Canada against any attack."?7 It is usually assumed that the friendship 
and mutual confidence which abounded between King and Roosevelt served to assuage this 
complex set of circumstances - an assumption based largely upon King's account of his rela­
tionship with the President.58 It has been suggested that "neither Roosevelt nor King 
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seems...to have been exactly a monument of sincerity."59 That description certainly applied to 
FDR in their first wartime meeting late in April 1940. 

King headed south to Virginia Beach for a holiday following his election victory and sent 
word via Loring Christie, Canadian Minister in Washington, that "he wanted very much to see 
the President before returning to Canada on about April 25th." King said that "he would be 
happy to go to Washington or Warm Springs at the President's convenience." His visit was to 
be entirely unofficial—"King wanted to be left alone by the State Department—but he did wish 
to see the President."60 Roosevelt obliged and invited King to join him at his Little White 
House at Warm Springs, Georgia. 

Contrary to the notion that King "preferred to listen to Roosevelt's views and to draw 
him out,"61 King did almost all the talking. During the talks, however, the Prime Minister did 
learn that Roosevelt was greatly alarmed over the deteriorating situation in Europe. Denmark 
and Norway had just fallen to the German onslaught. Roosevelt "spoke of the possibility of 
finding it necessary to send destroyers and cruisers to assist the British." He voiced concern 
about "the inadequacy of the defence of Canada on both the Atlantic and Pacific" as posing "a 
real danger to the United States." The U.S. Navy had some World War I equipment which 
might be useful on the Canadian east coast and in Newfoundland and which Roosevelt 
thought Canada could have for a nominal sum.62 

After returning to Washington on April 29, Roosevelt "took a long time" over lunch to 
tell Treasury Secretary Henry Morgenthau "how disgusted he was with Mackenzie King. He 
said that all Mackenzie King would talk to him about at Warm Springs was what a great man 
he, Mackenzie King, was and how he pulled this trick or that trick to get reelected." Roosevelt 
said that "it took him two or three days to get Mackenzie King talking about the war."63 But 
Roosevelt wore his "mask of affability"64 that afternoon when King stopped off at the White 
House on his way to the train station. King assured Roosevelt that he could "count on" him 
for help, and then they "exchanged a word or two about the very happy days they had had 
together at Warm Springs and said goodbye."65 This was, as one Canadian historian put it 
quite aptly, "the beginning of a new cooperation between the two countries, which grew more 
intimate as the situation in Europe went from bad to worse following the launching of the 
German 'Blitzkrieg' in the West on 10 May."66 But that "beginning" got off to a far chillier 
start than historians have surmised. 

The President appeared less than sanguine after the Warm Springs conversations about 
the extent he could actually count on King in checking the Nazi threat to the western hemi­
sphere. In reality King's visit contributed little to the enhancement of either his friendship 
with FDR or continental defence preparations. Roosevelt's fears over Canadian defence 
deficiencies and the concomitant dangers they posed to U.S. security increased as the Euro­
pean situation deteriorated. King, for his part, had to call upon the United States for an 
increasing amount of assistance. The Canadian War Cabinet Committee, following Germany's 
invasion of France and the Low Countries, decided on May 23 that every available Royal 
Canadian Navy destroyer should be sent to defend England. (There were but four ready at 
the time.) King felt that he should immediately inform the United States that Canadian 
coastal waters had been stripped of naval defences. The War Committee agreed that Canada 
as a "good neighbor" should let Roosevelt know of the destroyers' departure, since the United 
States "stood to suffer" if Canadian "shores were wholly neglected."67 
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The following day, before King contacted Roosevelt, the President invited the Prime 
Minister to send a personal envoy to Washington for conversations with him and Secretary of 
State Cordell Hull. King selected Hugh L. Keenleyside, Counsellor of the Department of 
External Affairs, who returned to report that Roosevelt intended to extend his "ice patrol" to 
cover the Atlantic coast from Maine to Greenland and to make available small arms and 
ammunition, harbour chains and nets, and some old naval planes - though the U.S. could not 
at the moment supply anti-aircraft equipment.68 

The government of Canada seems to have just discovered at this point in time that 
Newfoundland comprised an integral part of its defensive perimeter. On June 14, the day 
Paris fell, Ottawa decided to send a flight of bomber reconnaissance aircraft and an infantry 
battalion for defence of the Botwood aerodrome and seaplane base.69 C.G. Power, acting 
Minister of Defence, reported this action to the War Committee. He also recommended, and 
the Committee agreed, that the question of Canadian-American staff conversations posed a 
problem of some immediacy.70 King met that day as well with Jay Pierrepont Moffat, the 
newly-appointed American Minister to Canada. The Prime Minister emphasized during their 
conversation that since France no longer counted as a military force, an attack upon Great 
Britain seemed all the more imminent. He explained to Moffat that if Britain proved unable 
to withstand or repel an attack, the British fleet would, in whole or in part, move to Canada. 
This contingency would pose a multitude of problems which could not be solved without 
American assistance. King thought the time had arrived to renew staff talks with the United 
States but wondered whether the suggestion would embarrass the President. He asked Moffat 
to feel out the situation and tell him Roosevelt's response.71 

The Prime Minister soon received reassuring news concerning staff discussions and 
American defence plans for Newfoundland and Greenland. A couple of days following his 
conference with Moffat, the Canadian legation in Washington channeled a secret message to 
him from his friend Bruce Hutchison, editor of the Vancouver Sun. On June 12, Hutchison 
lunched with the number two man in the Military Intelligence Division (G-2) of the War 
Department's General Staff who asked to remain unnamed. Hutchison reported that "his 
statements may be taken as the final opinion of the U.S. experts as submitted to the Presi­
dent." The officer described Canada as "a part of America's "first line of defence." He did not 
think Hitler would attempt to invade the U.S. but he could "walk across to Canada on the 
causeway provided by Iceland, Greenland and Newfoundland." Therefore, he said, America 
needed "a base on Greenland and Newfoundland for planes and ships." He added that "there 
must be a joint base on Newfoundland," and the United States needed another big base in the 
West Indies and one in Brazil, with smaller bases in between, "probably one around Halifax." 
No staff talks had yet been conducted between the U.S. and Canada but, the officer said, they 
"must be held soon."72 

Hutchison sent King a similar report of a June 13 interview with Senate Foreign Rela­
tions Chairman Kay Pittman, in which the Senator affirmed that the U.S. "must have a mili­
tary understanding" with Canada. Washington and Ottawa would, he asserted, agree "on the 
bases that must be established, [and] the detailed plans of defence." Pittman trotted out a 
bases "shopping list" similar to the one the G-2 officer had produced and reminiscent of the 
one FDR had presented the previous summer: the U.S. required bases in Greenland, New­
foundland, and the West Indies and smaller ones in between.73 
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This news, especially the statement that "Canada was part of America's first line of 
defence," apparently prompted Keenleyside to warn King that "today, from consideration of 
her own security and from friendship for Canada, the United States may well become involved 
in the task of protecting the Dominion from the results of Canadian declarations of war upon 
major European powers." Washington, he emphasized, "cannot long be expected to be willing 
to accept responsibility for the results of a policy over which the United States has no con­
trol."74 

King, with that warning and knowledge that Washington was again considering holding 
staff conversations, pressed the matter further when he met again with Moffat on June 29. He 
proposed that Moffat meet with Canadian officials to ascertain their views regarding staff 
talks. Accordingly, Moffat suggested to the Ministers of Defence and Defence for Air that 
they recommend that high-ranking officers from each country meet and exchange impressions. 
No commitments on either side would be requested or given.75 Consequently, staff dis­
cussions began in Washington on July 12. The United States obtained some valuable military 
information from them, but on the whole the meetings proved inconclusive, and by the end of 
July they had reached an impasse.76 This breakdown in staff talks emphasized not only that 
regular diplomatic and military channels were inadequate to handle discussion of defence 
matters but also that there existed no extraordinary structures able to deal with such prob­
lems. By so doing, it fostered the creation of a permanent joint defence board. 

While Canadian officers were conferring with their American counterparts in 
Washington, a group of twenty influential Canadians met on July 17-18 to consider whether 
new problems might develop with the U.S. "unless some means of collaboration on a basis 
satisfactory to Canada could be established." They concluded that the U.S. in its concern over 
the "inadequacy of the meager Canadian defences" might and no doubt would act unilaterally 
"to augment them." They agreed that "Canada would have to cooperate voluntarily and invol­
untarily." If Canada "unduly emphasized its independence of action, it might provoke the 
United States to a strong attitude that could threaten loss of Canadian national identity." They 
resolved that "the best way to prevent such a turn of events would be frankly to admit Cana­
dian inability adequately to protect its air, sea and ground frontiers and to request U.S. coop­
eration in providing such protection on a continental or perhaps even hemispheric basis."77 

The conference proved timely because top officials in Washington were then discussing poss­
ible U.S. emergency defence action in Canada. FDR had just appointed as Secretary of War, 
Henry L. Stimson, a political protege of the late Theodore Roosevelt and a man who, accord­
ing to Loring Christie, spoke "in the authentic tones of that influential element" in the United 
States "who have long been aware of their country as a great power."78 While musing over 
the phone on July 18 with Secretary Morgenthau regarding a Canadian request for eighty 
thousand Enfield rifles, Stimson said, "I'm trying to help out on the opposite side-across the 
water very much, but from what I hear, what the Canadian situation is, she's stripped herself 
bare up there so that if anything happens up there we've got to go up and take the burden of 
it." Morgenthau replied, "That's right, I know all about it. I saw Moffat when he was down 
here - our Minister."79 

King had reinitiated staff talks but it was Roosevelt who encouraged further political 
contacts. Christie advised the Prime Minister on July 13 that Roosevelt's close friend, Justice 
Felix Frankfurter, had approached him and suggested that King should visit the President at 
Hyde Park to discuss a "common plan of defence for [the] North American continent includ-
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ing Islands on the Atlantic." The scheme might be flexible enough to bring the British govern­
ment into it.80 That day King got word, not unexpectedly, that Washington wished to secure 
air facilities in the British West Indies and Newfoundland. London asked the Canadian gov­
ernment to comment on the request, and King hastened to assure the British that he favoured 
the proposal.81 

There is reason to speculate that Roosevelt began to lay plans early in August for a 
meeting with King, not at Hyde Park, but at some place along the Canadian-American border. 
On August 3, he asked his assistants to arrange a troop inspection tour which would bring 
him into either Canton or Ogdensburg, New York by train by 7:00 p.m. on August 17, where 
he intended to spend the night.82 The President's position, as one Canadian observer recalled 
later, was to wait for public opinion to ferment like a mash, so that he could come along and 
draw off the strong liquor later. The greater the ferment of ideas, the better. One or more of 
them might in time become government policy.83 Unquestionably, by mid-August public 
opinion in Canada and the U.S., thoroughly aroused over events in Europe, had grown fearful 
for the security of North America. Moffat reported to the State Department on August 14 
that even those groups in Canada which had opposed closer relations with the United States 
were now bringing pressure on the Prime Minister for "some form of joint defense under­
standing with the United States."84 

Loring Christie saw the President on the 15th and reported to King that Roosevelt "had 
been thinking of proposing to you to send to Ottawa" three military, naval and naval air 
officers to discuss defence problems with their Canadian counterparts. The President had in 
mind their surveying the "situation from the Bay of Fundy around to the Gulf of St. Law­
rence." Further, they might explore the "question of base facilities for United States use," 
possibly including facilities at Chester or Louisbourg separate from a Halifax base. "The 
President," Christie said, "would contemplate making available anti-aircraft and other guns, 
and in certain eventualities despatch destroyers." Roosevelt intimated to Christie that he 
might, "as soon as the beginning of next week make some definite suggestion" to King, 8 5 and 
"said that he would probably be talking to Mr. King by telephone." The next day Christie sent 
word to Ottawa that Roosevelt had early that morning informed Lord Lothian, the British 
Ambassador in Washington, that he hoped to see "Mr. King over the week-end or in the next 
few days."86 So a personal meeting was contemplated. 

Moffat's report, written two days before, reached Roosevelt on August 16.87 Further­
more, after sending the report, Moffat telephoned Roosevelt and suggested Ogdensburg as a 
possible meeting place for the President and Prime Minister. Moffat had heard that Roosevelt 
was planning a trip to upstate New York, and proposed to the President that he meet with 
King somewhere along the border.88 In politics as in the distillery,'timing is important; the 
time had arrived to "draw off the liquor." Roosevelt phoned King at 2:00 that afternoon and 
said, "I am going tomorrow night in my train to Ogdensburg. If you are free, I would like to 
have you come over and have dinner with me there." He advised King that he had issued a 
statement to the press that morning, informing them that he was communicating with Great 
Britain over Atlantic defences and that he was taking up directly with King "the matter of 
mutual defences of our coasts on the Atlantic." Roosevelt said that he wished to keep the two 
matters separate. King agreed. The President went on to explain that he had already taken the 
liberty of informing the press that the two of them would be meeting. Thereupon he asked: 
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"Are you free tomorrow night?" King said "Yes," he said, he would be "very pleased to accept 
the invitation."89 

All the preliminary arrangements in Ottawa proceeded in strict secrecy. Few men, even in 
the Department of External Affairs, knew of this planned conference, and those who did 
remained unaware of the agenda.90 The next day King, accompanied by Moffat, drove from 
Ottawa to Prescott, where they boarded a special ferry which carried them to Ogdensburg. 
Motorcycles escorted them to the railway yard where the President waited. At 7:00 p.m. King 
stepped aboard the President's private railway car, in which he and Moffat found Roosevelt 
relaxing in the observation room with his Secretary of War, Colonel Stimson. The President 
had just returned from inspecting troops, and although physically tired, he appeared to be in 
an expansive mood. In particular, Roosevelt was amused at "stealing half the show" from 
Wendell Willkie (who that day had delivered his acceptance speech for the Republican presi­
dential nomination) by his visit to Ogdensburg to see King. While Roosevelt and King chatted 
over drinks, the train moved out of Ogdensburg to Heuvelton, a quiet village nearby. About 
8:00 p.m. the initial conference broke up, and Roosevelt asked Stimson and King to join him 
for dinner91 

Roosevelt initiated dinner conversation by describing the destroyers-for-bases negotiations 
with Britain and listing the places within the British Empire where Americans would establish 
naval and air bases. Mentioning the matter of Canada, Roosevelt said that since Canada was 
a Dominion, "negotiation must be with Canada." FDR proposed establishing a naval and air 
base somewhere in the St. Lawrence region or along the northeastern coast. Specifically he 
mentioned some place like Yarmouth, Nova Scotia, or an area further eastward along the 
coast of that province. King, however, made it plain to Roosevelt that Canada did not wish to 
sell or lease sites, but would willingly work out means by which the United States could utilize 
facilities on Canadian territory. They decided that the U.S. would be allowed a limited free 
port where it might bring in supplies and equipment, and could install locks, drydocks, and 
repair shops. The Americans would not object to Canadian artillery defence of such bases, 
and furthermore, Canadian participation in base defence might protect against charges that 
the U.S. had violated Canadian sovereignty.92 

The President also proposed the immediate creation of a joint Canadian-American board, 
composed of an equal number of senior military men but led by two civilians, one from each 
country.93 (There was an advantage, in fact, Roosevelt considered it politically necessary, to 
have a non-governmental civilian chairman when the United States was not a belligerent and 
Canada was.)94 This agency would study mutual defence problems and submit recommenda­
tions to the two governments. The board's jurisdiction would be the northern half of the 
western hemisphere. Roosevelt commented to King that Newfoundland, because of its colonial 
status, constituted a phase of hemispheric defence on which the United States would have to 
negotiate directly with Winston Churchill. King concurred, but interjected that since Canada 
had undertaken the defence of Newfoundland, the British would probably want Canada to 
cooperate in negotiations. Roosevelt explained that the new board or committee should 
discuss plans for defence of North America, with attention to possible attack from the north­
east. It seemed vital, Roosevelt said, that there should be conferences, discussions and plans 
between the armed services of the two nations in case an attack were launched up the St. 
Lawrence or along the northeastern coast of Canada. King was "perfectly delighted with the 
whole thing."95 
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On Sunday morning, after attending a military service, Roosevelt and King returned to 
the train and Roosevelt proceeded to draft a joint press statement. Roosevelt, pencil in hand, 
read aloud the draft statement. It spoke of a permanent joint commission. King asked 
Roosevelt whether he thought the word "commission" was as good as "board" or "committee." 
The word "board," King pointed out, had been used the night before during conversation. 
Stimson agreed that "board" might be preferable and Roosevelt approved. King remarked that 
"commission" suggested the necessity of formal government appointments. "I then questioned 
him," King recorded later, "as to the significance of the use of the word 'permanent.'" 
Roosevelt answered immediately that he attached much importance to that word. King 
explained that he "was not questioning the wisdom of it but was anxious to get what he had in 
mind."96 King, in fact, did not want to see the board dropped. He feared that in case the 
European situation brightened and Britain managed to stave off defeat, the United States 
might pull out of the agreement and abandon the board.97 Roosevelt told King that the 
board should not be created "to meet alone this particular situation but help secure the conti­
nent for the future." King appeared pleased with this suggestion and readily concurred. There­
upon they agreed on the title, the "Canada-United States Permanent Joint Board on 
Defence."98 

The President commented a few days later to the newly-designated State Department 
Board appointee "that the defence of the United States and Canada was a permanent prob­
lem" and that "the Board ought to be a permanent body."99 King also enthusiastically sup­
ported the proposal to establish a joint board to discuss problems because of his great affec­
tion for the International Joint Commission (IJC) and its success with boundary water issues. 
King reasoned that the PJBD, like the IJC, would continue to work after the war as a perma­
nent body.100 

The two national leaders had two expectations of the PJBD: first, the recognition of an 
enduring geographic fact of life which was responsible for the addition of the word "Perma­
nent"; and second, the short-term solution to the problem of providing a mechanism whereby 
two interdependent occupants of North America, one at peace, the other already a belligerent, 
could harmonize their activities without unacceptable liabilities in either country. "Permanent" 
provided a useful word for avoidance of such liabilities of the moment.101 

Having agreed on a title for the Board, the President read the statement a second time, 
and King approved it. Its wording likewise satisfied Stimson,102 who remarked to others at 
the time that he felt the Ogdensburg Agreement marked a "turning point in the tide of the 
war, and that from now on we could hope for better things."103 At noon, King and Roosevelt 
parted. King's aide handed copies of the joint statement to several newspapermen who stood 
nearby. The press release read: 

The Prime Minister and the President have discussed the mutual problems of 
defence in relation to the safety of Canada and the United States. It has been agreed 
that a permanent joint board on defence shall be set up at once by the two coun­
tries. This permanent joint board on defence shall commence immediate studies 
relating to sea, land and air problems including personnel and material. It will con­
sider in the broad sense the defence of the north half of the western hemisphere. 
The permanent joint board on defence will consist of four or five members from 
each country, most of them from the services. It will meet shortly.104 
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Diplomatically, the Ogdensburg Agreement contained a broad application. The United 
States government in effect announced to Germany: "Canada is at war with you; under the 
rules of war you are entitled to retaliate against her, but we are telling you that you must not 
retaliate against her in the homeland, which is North America."105 This was sound American 
policy; the Ogdensburg Agreement both furnished a solution to the urgent demands for 
cooperation in hemispheric defence and, like the Destroyers-for-Bases Deal and Lend Lease, 
constituted American intervention in the European conflict. Further, it assured Canadians that 
the United States would not stand by idly if their country were attacked. 

Evidence concerning Roosevelt's base facilities negotiations with Canada and Britain106 

rips a hole in the 1939 curtain to show that the Destroyers-for-Bases Deal and the Ogdens­
burg Agreement were more like delayed action responses than impulsive acts of empathy and 
desperation in a crisis. Scholars, however, generally agree that the Ogdensburg Agreement 
marked a turning point in American relations with Canada.107 Certainly King viewed it as a 
momentous event. This new agreement, he affirmed in Parliament, was not to be of a tempor­
ary nature: "It is part of the enduring foundation of a new world order, based on friendship 
and good will." 1 0 8 In less flattering terms one Canadian critic described Ogdensburg with 
some slight exaggeration as marking a shift "from Canada as a British dominion to Canada as 
an American protectorate."109 Yet one cannot but agree with the remark that so grim was 
the situation that many Canadians would have been willing to "pay the price", even if they had 
been able to "look into the future and see Ogdensburg as a turning point in the growth of 
American influences on Canada."110 

Politicians have to make decisions based upon known alternatives at the moment. It was 
well-known in Ottawa during the summer of 1940 that Canada's element of choice might at 
any moment become narrow indeed. Keenleyside summed up -the dilemma facing Canada 
quite succinctly in June when he advised King that "it may be that by taking the initiative 
along certain lines now we can hope to achieve a more satisfactory ultimate position vis-a-vis 
the United States than we can obtain by waiting until events force us to take the best available 
conditions in a time of crisis."111 Assuredly, as former Canadian diplomat John Holmes once 
commented, the shift in power to the United States was not something the Canadian govern­
ment desired; rather, "it was a fact to which Canada had to adjust."112 

Furthermore, it appears evident that FDR, from the beginning of his presidency, linked 
Canada's future security with that of the United States. He intended the Monroe Doctrine to 
include Canada. He suggested as much at Chautauqua and defined that commitment more 
explicitly at Kingston. If necessary, he was prepared to act unilaterally, even in Canada, to 
protect American security. At Kingston Roosevelt outlined what might .best be described as 
the "Canadian Corollary" to the Monroe Doctrine. It signaled the beginning of a new Ameri­
can policy, notwithstanding Roosevelt's protestations to the contrary. Given the traditional 
American opposition to foreign entanglement, Roosevelt cleverly calculated that his pledge to 
Canada would gain more ready acceptance if attached to an old time-honoured principle. 

In fact, the 1938 Kingston Declaration and the Woodbridge acknowledgement marked the 
real turning point in Canadian-American relations. Those pronouncements were subsequently 
institutionalized in the PJBD. As Roger Swanson has observed, apart from the North Atlantic 
Treaty, there has been "no single formal agreement defining reciprocal expectations and 
obligations" between the United States and Canada; indeed, "the most definitive and compre­
hensive pledge of bilateral defense commitments remains that of the Roosevelt-King state-
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ments of 1938." Swanson, however, tended to deprecate the later agreement with the comment 
that "the August 1940 Ogdensburg Declaration, regarded as the genesis of the contemporary 
defense relationship, was not a declaration but a six-sentence unsigned press release issued by 
King and Roosevelt."113 But the Ogdensburg Declaration (or Agreement) and the PJBD 
which it established counted for more than that. 

The PJBD provided Canada and the United States with "a symbol" as well as an agency 
for joint study of defence problems,114 for with its creation the two governments recognized 
officially and for the first time the necessity for a joint and permanent approach to North 
American defence. Roosevelt and King agreed that only through the closest cooperation could 
the defence of both countries be guaranteed. In case of hostile attack, Canada could not 
defend herself alone, and the United States could not be defended without also defending 
Canada. The two leaders therefore formed a "Permanent" Joint Board which would meet the 
immediate wartime emergency and continue to function during peacetime. They saw little 
prospect that the international situation would ever return to the isolationism of the interwar 
period. That Board, as it turned out, furnished a forum well adapted to deal with problems 
which arose in the Canadian-American wartime entente. As former Canadian Board member 
R. A. MacKay recalled twenty years later, the Ogdensburg Agreement "was not an equal 
partnership, but it was remarkably free, due to the United States' restraint in declining to use 
its great military strength as a support for diplomacy vis-a-vis Canada."115 
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